STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

ORIGINAL

Certiorari to Lancaster County

Honorable William Jeffrey Young, Circuit Court Judge

---

RECEIVED

DEC 21 2017

S.C. SUPREME COURT

ANTHONY RODRIEKUS CARTER,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2017-001265

---

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

---

LARA M. CAUDY  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
P.O. Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

**

### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Did the post-conviction relief judge err by finding trial counsel was not deficient when he failed to challenge the sufficiency of the evidence during his motion for a directed verdict concerning whether Petitioner fired the fatal shot or could be guilty under an accomplice liability theory where the state failed to introduce any evidence that Petitioner and his codefendant joined to accomplish an illegal purpose, and that Petitioner failed to prove prejudice, where if counsel had raised these additional grounds at trial, the trial judge would have directed a verdict of acquittal or, in the alternative, the appellate court would have directed a verdict if the arguments had been preserved for appellate review?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 3, 2010, gunfire erupted at the Countryside Mobile Home Park in Lancaster, South Carolina. Three year old Jaylen was fatally shot as she sat in the backseat of a car parked in the neighborhood. Immediately before the shooting, Petitioner and Marico Stevens drove Emmie Amanda Coats to her home in the mobile home park. Stevens was the driver, Petitioner was the front seat passenger, and Coats and Jaylen sat in the backseat. App. 221, l. 1 – App. 222, l. 5. Petitioner and Coats were romantically involved. App. 208, ll. 4-20. Stevens dated Jaylen’s mother, Rodriana Lanisha Cunningham. App. 155, ll. 16-19.

There was an ongoing dispute between Petitioner and Beneco Ganson, J.D. Hemphill, and John Jarrod Hill that started months before the shooting. App. 222, l. 19 – 223, l. 23. Hill claimed at trial that he gave Petitioner four hundred and fifty dollars to buy cocaine and Petitioner “jumped the fence” with his money. App. 281, ll. 2-23. A few days before the shooting, Ganson, Hemphill, and Hill chased Petitioner out of Countryside Mobile Home Park as he was leaving Coats’ trailer. App. 223, l. 24 – 224, l. 16. Ganson told Petitioner during this encounter that if he ever came back to the neighborhood, he better have a gun. App. 253, ll. 2-9. Ganson admitted at trial that he, Hill and Hemphill tried to “get” Petitioner after Petitioner took the money from Hill. App. 329, l. 5 – 333, l. 7. Ganson also admitted they beat up Petitioner’s brother as a result of the dispute. App. 333, l. 14 – 334, l. 12.

According to Coats, on the way to her trailer that evening, Petitioner told Stevens about the earlier encounter where Ganson, Hemphill, and Hill chased Petitioner, and Stevens handed Petitioner a gun. App. 223, l. 24 – 225, l. 12. When Stevens pulled into the mobile home park, Coats saw Hemphill and Ganson. App. 229, ll. 12-24. Stevens parked in front of Coats’ trailer. Petitioner got out of the car with the gun and met Hemphill in the middle of the road. Petitioner

allegedly had the gun concealed on his side. App. 233, l. 3 – 235, l. 21. The men briefly argued, and then Petitioner turned around and walked back to the rear passenger side of Stevens' car. App. 235, l. 22 – 236, l. 12. Stevens was standing at the front of the car on the passenger side. App. 236, ll. 18-22. When Petitioner got back to the car, Coats heard gunshots and saw a flash from across the street. App. 237, ll. 6-11. According to Coats, Petitioner turned like he was going to shoot back, but Coats immediately went inside her trailer and did not see what happened. While she was inside, Coats heard shooting back and forth. App. 237, ll. 17-22.

Kayla Estes, Petitioner's girlfriend, testified that he told her he met Hemphill in the roadway and "they both said the whole thing was quashed." App. 350, ll. 11-22. Petitioner then turned and walked away. After he walked away, Petitioner heard Ganson say, "Fuck that, I'll get him." App. 350, l. 23 – 351, l. 2. Petitioner told Estes he heard gunshots and Stevens "ended up with the gun" and returned fire. App. 351, ll. 1-10.

Investigator Jeff Steele with the Lancaster County Sheriff's Office testified that numerous cartridges casings were recovered from the scene that night, including multiple 7.65 millimeter casings, a .380 caliber casing, and multiple .22 caliber casings. App. 423, l. 3 – 424, l. 10. Additionally, three .40 caliber cartridge casings were collected from Coats the morning after the shooting. She allegedly found them in her yard. App. 424, ll. 18-24; App. 241, l. 7 – 244, l. 19; App. 267, l. 5 – 270, l. 2. The only gun recovered was a .40 caliber semiautomatic pistol. App. 550, l. 22 – 551, l. 2.

During the course of the investigation, officers spoke with Eric and Jackie Sanders, Stevens' father and stepmother, about recovering the firearm. Jackie testified that her husband called someone named Derrick about the gun. App. 388, ll. 5-15. As a result of this conversation, Jackie met Derrick at a convenience store and he gave her the gun. App. 389, l. 8 – 391, l. 21. Jackie then

turned the gun over to Investigator Mike Howell of the Lancaster County Sheriff's Office. App. 400, l. 11 – 403, l. 4.

Stevens could not be excluded as a possible contributor to a mixture of DNA found on the firearm. However, Petitioner was excluded as a possible contributor. App. 538, ll. 4-22.

Michelle Eichenmiller, a firearms examiner with the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division, testified that the three .40 caliber cartridge casings collected by Coats, a bullet jacket fragment found on the passenger side floorboard of Stevens' car, a copper fragment recovered from the cushion on the backseat headrest, and a bullet jacket fragment found in Coats' driveway were all fired by the recovered .40 caliber pistol. App. 550, l. 19 – 557, l. 17.

There were two defects found on the roof of the car driven by Stevens. They were both located toward the front of the vehicle on the passenger side near where Stevens was seen standing during the shooting. App. 456, l. 20 – 457, l. 1. Investigator Ken Taylor, who was qualified as an expert in shooting reconstruction, testified that both defects were entry holes caused by a fired bullet. App. 457, l. 8 – 459, l. 17. As to directionality, Taylor opined the bullets that entered the roof of the car "came from the front of the car toward the rear of the car" at a downward angle. App. 446, ll. 8-13; App. 459, ll. 18-23; App. 464, ll. 3-7. One of the bullets that entered the roof of the car exited through the rear windshield. App. 468, ll. 14-21. The other bullet that entered the roof struck the backseat cushion. App. 466, ll. 9-22. A small copper fragment from a bullet jacket was recovered from the headrest. App. 471, ll. 7-20.

After the shooting, Petitioner and Stevens left the mobile home park and went to Lawrence Alexander's apartment nearby. Stevens "burst" into the apartment and "started saying someone was trying to kill him." He "said they shot up his car." App. 357, l. 13 – 358, l. 20. Petitioner and Stevens did not realize the child had been shot until Alexander asked about the child. App. 359, l.

15 – 360, l. 18. Once they realized she was injured, they rushed her to Springs Memorial Hospital in Lancaster. App. 360, l. 19 – 361, l. 12; App. 124, l. 3 – 130, l. 7. The child was eventually airlifted to Carolina Medical Center in Charlotte where she was pronounced dead at 6:15 the following morning. App. 150, l. 18 – 151, l. 21. She died from a “through and through” gunshot wound to the head. App. 370, l. 18 – 373, l. 2.

A Lancaster County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner on August 19, 2010 for murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. App. 871-872. His case was called to trial on November 7, 2011 before the Honorable Ernest J. Kinard, and a jury. App. 1. Solicitor Doug Barfield represented the state, and Michael Lifsey represented Petitioner. App. 1. On November 10, 2011, the jury found Petitioner guilty as indicted. App. 689, ll. 10-20. He was sentenced to thirty two years for murder and five years concurrent for the weapons offense. App. 697, ll. 3-23.

On direct appeal, Petitioner argued the trial judge erred by refusing to direct a verdict for the offense of murder when the state failed to prove who fired the fatal shot or introduce any evidence that Petitioner and his codefendant Stevens joined to accomplish an illegal purpose. App. 702. However, the Court of Appeals held the argument was not preserved for appellate review. App. 748-749. Specifically, the court found “any issue regarding the sufficiency of evidence that [Petitioner] fired the fatal shot or could be guilty under an accomplice liability theory is not preserved because he only presented a self-defense argument to the trial judge in support of his directed verdict motion.” App. 748-749. Consequently, the court affirmed Petitioner’s conviction and sentence. App. 748-749.

Petitioner filed a petition for rehearing on May 15, 2014. App. 750-759. The Court of Appeals denied the petition for rehearing by order dated June 25, 2014. App. 760-761. On July

24, 2014, Petitioner filed a petition for writ of certiorari to the Court of Appeals with this Court arguing the Court of Appeals erred by holding the claim was procedurally barred. App. 762-777. The state filed a return to this petition on August 19, 2014. App. 778-808. This Court ultimately denied certiorari by order dated December 4, 2014. App. 809.

On January 13, 2015, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR) raising the claim argued in this petition. App. 810-816. The state filed a return to this application dated July 7, 2015. App. 817-821. An evidentiary hearing was convened on January 10, 2017 before the Honorable William Jeffrey Young. App. 822. Assistant Attorney General Patrick Schmeckpeper represented the state, and Nathan Sheldon represented Petitioner. App. 822.

Michael Lifsey, Petitioner's trial counsel, admitted it was highly disputed who fired the fatal shot, Petitioner or Stevens. However, he explained that "the state's theory was the hand of one is the hand of all and it really didn't matter" who actually fired the bullet that struck the child. App. 826, ll. 4-13; App. 827, ll. 6-18. According to Lifsey, the state tried Petitioner and Stevens separately due to concerns related to Bruton v. United States 391 U.S. 123 (1968).<sup>1</sup> Petitioner was tried first during the week of November 7, 2011. Stevens was tried the following week.<sup>2</sup> App. 826, l. 17 – 827, l. 5.

As to the directed verdict motion, Lifsey testified, "I think I made a directed verdict motion because I always make a directed verdict motion on the general sufficiency of the evidence. [But] I don't remember anything particular about it." App. 828, ll. 1-5. Lifsey

---

<sup>1</sup> The United States Supreme Court held in Burton that the Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment bars the admission of a nontestifying codefendant's confession that incriminates another defendant.

<sup>2</sup> A jury acquitted Stevens of murder.

acknowledged that he did not “make any specific argument [during the motion for a directed verdict] as to the State’s theory of the case.” He admitted he failed to argue there was no evidence Petitioner and Stevens acted in concert as required for a conviction under the accomplice liability theory. Lifsey maintained that there was evidence Petitioner and Stevens “went there [the mobile home park] together” and “that both of them had handled the gun” so he did not believe accomplice liability was “an issue” and he “certainly didn’t raise it.” App. 828, l. 20 – 829, l. 4.

Lifsey also testified that there was no evidence Petitioner fired the fatal shot. Petitioner never admitted in his recorded statement to the police that he fired the weapon that evening. Instead, Petitioner merely admitted to handling the gun at some point before the shooting when he armed himself in self defense. App. 829, l. 11 – 830, l. Lifsey emphasized that the physical evidence established the bullet that struck the child was fired from the front of Stevens’ car on the passenger side. App. 830, ll. 2-7. Notably, the evidence presented at trial showed that Stevens was standing at the front passenger side of the car when the shots were first fired from across the street, and that Petitioner was standing near the rear of the vehicle.

Importantly, Lifsey admitted that he only made a general motion for a directed verdict and, consequently, he acknowledged he failed to preserve other specific grounds for appellate review. App. 831, ll. 16-22. Moreover, it was his understanding that the appellate court held certain grounds for the directed verdict motion were not preserved. App. 831, ll. 16-22.

Despite recognizing that the Court of Appeals held the grounds raised by appellate counsel on appeal concerning the directed verdict motion were not preserved for appellate review because trial counsel only raised a self defense argument at trial, the PCR judge found Petitioner “failed to show actual deficiency.” App. 867. The judge maintained, “The fact that

counsel did not make an argument he did not believe was meritorious does not constitute ineffective assistance of counsel.” App. 867. Moreover, the judge found Petitioner failed to “show prejudice, or a reasonable likelihood that had counsel preserved the issue to the Court of Appeals’ satisfaction, the outcome of the proceeding would have been different.” App. 867. Specifically, the judge found Petitioner would not have been entitled to a directed verdict on the claims raised on appeal. App. 867-869.

As to principal liability, the PCR judge found “it was reasonably inferable [from the evidence presented] that [Petitioner] walked into an already heated situation armed, was pointing a gun at people—thereby bringing on the difficulty—and ultimately fired the fatal shot that killed the victim.” App. 868. As to accomplice liability, the judge noted, “The evidence presented at trial was that [Petitioner] and his co-defendant went to the location of the intended victims. They talked about the dispute prior to arriving. Under these circumstances, the jury could have clearly interpreted that the gun changing hands signified a common design, from which the victim’s death resulted. In any event, whether [Petitioner] or the co-defendant fired the shot that ultimately killed the victim, a motion for a directed verdict would have been appropriately denied.” App. 869.

Because the PCR judge erred by finding Petitioner failed to prove trial counsel was deficient for failing to challenge the sufficiency of the evidence concerning whether Petitioner fired the fatal shot or could be guilty under an accomplice liability theory, and that Petitioner failed to prove prejudice since Petitioner would not have been entitled to a directed verdict on these grounds, this petition for writ of certiorari follows.

## ARGUMENT

The post-conviction relief judge erred by finding trial counsel was not deficient when he failed to challenge the sufficiency of the evidence during his motion for a directed verdict concerning whether Petitioner fired the fatal shot or could be guilty under an accomplice liability theory where the state failed to introduce any evidence that Petitioner and his codefendant joined to accomplish an illegal purpose, and that Petitioner failed to prove prejudice, where if counsel had raised these additional grounds at trial, the trial judge would have directed a verdict of acquittal or, in the alternative, the appellate court would have directed a verdict if the arguments had been preserved for appellate review.

Trial counsel, while he did move for a directed verdict, was deficient in omitting several grounds for the motion, including the argument that Petitioner was entitled to a directed verdict because the state failed to prove Petitioner fired the fatal shot or could be guilty under an accomplice liability theory because the state failed to introduce any evidence that Petitioner and Stevens joined to accomplish an illegal purpose. Petitioner raised these additional grounds on direct appeal, and, after the Court of Appeals held the argument was not preserved for appellate review, this Court denied the petition for writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals. Petitioner was prejudiced by counsel's deficient performance because if counsel had properly raised these grounds, the trial judge, or in the alternative, the appellate court, would have directed a verdict of acquittal for murder.

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees a defendant the right to the effective assistance of counsel. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). The United States Supreme Court has established a two pronged test to evaluate allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. Petitioner must prove "that counsel's performance was deficient"

and fell below reasonable professional norms, and the deficient performance prejudiced Petitioner. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687. Under the second prong, Petitioner must show “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result would have been different. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117-118, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688). “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial.” Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 186, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735 (1997) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 668).

“This Court has previously held that an issue that was raised on direct appeal but found to be unpreserved may be raised in the context of a PCR claim alleging ineffective assistance of counsel.” McHam v. State, 404 S.C. 465, 475, 746 S.E.2d 41, 47 (2013) (citing McLaughlin v. State, 352 S.C. 476, 575 S.E.2d 841 (2003) and Foye v. State, 335 S.C. 586, 518 S.E.2d 265 (1999)). Here, trial counsel was deficient for omitting grounds that would have entitled Petitioner to a directed verdict. See generally Stone v. State, 419 S.C. 370, 389-390, 798 S.E.2d 561, 571-572 (2017) (holding trial counsel was deficient because, while he did object, he omitted several grounds for the objection). Specifically, trial counsel was ineffective for failing to challenge the sufficiency of the evidence that Petitioner fired the fatal shot or could be guilty under an accomplice liability theory since the state failed to introduce evidence that Petitioner and Stevens joined to accomplish an illegal purpose. Instead, counsel merely made a general challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence based on a self defense argument. See App. 615, l. 22 – 616, l. 3; App. 749.

Not only was trial counsel ineffective, Petitioner was clearly prejudiced by counsel’s deficient performance. Petitioner may satisfy the prejudice prong by proving there is a reasonable probability that either (1) the trial judge would have directed a verdict of acquittal for

murder if counsel had raised the additional grounds for the motion, including that the state could not prove Petitioner fired the fatal shot or could be guilty under an accomplice liability theory because the state failed to introduce any evidence Petitioner and Stevens joined to accomplish an illegal purpose, at trial, or (2) the appellate court would have considered the merits of the argument on appeal and ultimately directed a verdict if trial counsel had raised the additional grounds at trial thereby preserving them for appellate review. See generally Stone, 419 S.C. at 389-390, 798 S.E.2d at 571-572 (holding as to trial counsel's deficiency in failing to object to certain testimony, Stone would satisfy the second prong of Strickland if he proved there is a reasonable probability that either (1) the trial court would have sustained an objection, which would in turn have changed the outcome of the proceeding, or (2) the appellate court would have reversed on the basis of one of the preserved objections).

Since the grounds for the directed verdict motion raised on appeal were not considered by the appellate court because the court held Petitioner only presented a self defense argument to the trial judge in support of his directed verdict motion and, consequently, the grounds were not preserved for appellate review, an examination of the merits of the argument is necessary in analyzing the prejudice prong. See McHam, 404 S.C. at 475-476, 746 S.E.2d at 47 (citing Sikes v. State, 323 S.C. 28, 30, 448 S.E.2d 560, 562 (1994)).

A defendant is entitled to a directed verdict when the prosecution fails to provide evidence of the offense charged. State v. Odems, 395 S.C 582, 586, 720 S.E.2d 48, 50 (2011) (citing State v. McHoney, 344 S.C. 85, 97, 544 S.E.2d 30, 36 (2001)). "If there is any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, an appellate court must find the case was properly submitted to the jury." State v. Lollis, 343 S.C. 580, 584, 541 S.E.2d 254, 256 (2001) (citing State v. Pinckney, 339 S.C. 346, 349, 529 S.E.2d 526, 527 (2000)).

When the prosecution relies exclusively on circumstantial evidence, the trial judge must direct a verdict in the defendant's favor unless there is *substantial* circumstantial evidence which reasonably tends to prove the guilt of the defendant or from which his guilt may be fairly and logically deduced. State v. Bostick, 392 S.C. 134, 139, 708 S.E.2d 774, 776 (2011) (citing State v. Mitchell, 341 S.C. 406, 409, 535 S.E.2d 126, 127 (2000)).

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