STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Lancaster County
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable William Jeffrey Young, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-001265

RECEIVED

MAY 09 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

ANTHONY RODRIEKUS CARTER,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DESHAWN H. MITCHELL
Assistant Attorney General
SC Bar No. 101813

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

Regarding accomplice liability, the PCR Court found even if Petitioner’s co-defendant fired the fatal shot, a reasonable jury could still have found him guilty. The PCR Court found it was clearly inferable from the testimony and evidence presented at trial that if the co-defendant shot the victim, then the Petitioner was guilty under a “hand of one, hand of all” theory of liability. The PCR Court noted “Under the ‘hand of one is the hand of all’ theory, one who joins with another to accomplish an illegal purpose is liable criminally for everything done by his confederate incidental to the execution of the common design and purpose.” State v. Langly, 334 S.C. 643, 515 S.E.2d 98 (1999). Under an accomplice liability theory, “a person must personally commit the crime or be present at the scene of the crime and intentionally, or through

¹¹ According to a witness to the exchange, the gun looked like the one admitted into evidence as State’s Exhibit 2. Tr. p. 221-22.

¹² Another witness, Ms. Coats, testified that the gun was either in his pocket or tucked under his shirt as he approached them. Tr. p. 230.

¹³ The Petitioner’s trial counsel agreed, noting that this was not an issue at trial.

a common design, aid, abet, or assist in the commission of that crime through some overt act.” Id. at 648-49, 515 S.E.2d at 101. A formally expressed agreement is not necessary to establish the conspiracy. State v. Oliver, 275 S.C. 79, 267 S.E.2d 529 (1980).

The PCR Court found the evidence presented at trial was that Petitioner and his co-defendant went to the location of the intended victims. They talked about the dispute prior to arriving. Under these circumstances, the jury could have clearly interpreted that the gun changing hands signified a common design, from which the victim’s death resulted.¹⁴ The PCR Court concluded in any event, whether Petitioner or the co-defendant fired the shot that ultimately killed the victim, a motion for directed verdict would have been appropriately denied.

There is evidence of probative value in the record to support the PCR judge’s finding that Petitioner has failed to demonstrate Trial Counsel was ineffective for arguing during his motion for a directed verdict that the state failed to prove accomplice liability and Petitioner is unable to show prejudice as had this issue been preserved for appeal review the outcome would not have been different.

This Court has previously held an issue that was raised on direct appeal but found to be unpreserved may be raised in the context of a post-conviction relief claim alleging ineffective assistance of counsel. McHam v. State, 404 S.C. 465, 475, 746 S.E.2d 41, 47 (2013) (citing McLaughlin v. State, 352 S.C. 476, 575 S.E.2d 841 (2003); Foye v. State, 335 S.C. 586, 518 S.E.2d 265 (1999)). However, to be entitled to relief on such a claim, an applicant must establish the underlying claim is meritorious and would have resulted in a reversal on appeal to a reasonable probability. McHam, 404 S.C. at 475–76, 746 S.E.2d at 47 (“Since the Fourth

¹⁴ In fact, it appears that counsel conceded, during trial, that the trial judge’s decision to charge “hand of one, hand of all” was appropriate. Tr. p. 596-97. Counsel testified at the evidentiary hearing that he did not believe there was any issue as to whether the “hand of one, hand of all” charge was appropriate, noting that the Petitioner and his co-defendant went to the scene together, and were both holding the gun at different points. Given the evidence in the record, this Court finds such a concession was inherently reasonable.

Amendment issue was not considered on direct appeal because it was unpreserved, an examination of the merits of the issue is appropriate in analyzing the prejudice prong in McHam's PCR claim.") (citing Sikes v. State, 323 S.C. 28, 30, 448 S.E.2d 560, 562 (1994) ("When the defendant claims that counsel's failure to articulate a Fourth Amendment claim was ineffective assistance, [the] defendant must show that such claim is **meritorious** and that the verdict would have been different absent the evidence that should have been excluded." (emphasis in McHam)). Therefore, before a post-conviction relief court can find an applicant has prevailed on a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failing to preserve a ground for appellate review, the court must determine the underlying claim was meritorious and a reasonable probability that it would have resulted in reversal and a new trial.

In Petitioner's case and as the PCR court correctly noted, Petitioner claim was not meritorious and there was a reasonable probability it would not have resulted in a reversal and a new trial. South Carolina defines "murder" as the "killing of any person with malice aforethought, either express or implied." S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-10 (2003). See also State v. Blakely, 402 S.C. 650, 742 S.E.2d 29 (Ct.App. 2013). "Malice is the wrongful intent to injure another and indicates a wicked or depraved spirit intent on doing wrong. State v. Kelsey, 331 S.C. 50, 502 S.E.2d 63 (1998). It is the doing of a wrongful act intentionally and without just cause or excuse. Tate v. State, 351 S.C. 418, 570 S.E.2d 522 (2002).

"[A] defendant may be found guilty of murder or manslaughter in a case of bad or mistaken aim under the doctrine of transferred intent. In the classic case, the defendant intends to kill or seriously injure one person, but misses that person and mistakenly kills another." State v. Fennell, 340 S.C. 266, 272, 531 S.E.2d 512, 515 (2000).¹⁵ This Court sets forth the applicable

¹⁵ This doctrine has been consistently recognized in South Carolina cases. See State v. Gandy, 283 S.C. 571, 324 S.E.2d 65 (1984) (affirming murder conviction where defendant intending to kill one man shot through a closed

law on review of motions for a directed verdict in State v. Bostick, 392 S.C. 134, 139-40, 708 S.E.2d 774, 776-77 (2011):

A case should be submitted to the jury when the evidence is circumstantial “if there is any substantial evidence which reasonably tends to prove the guilt of the accused or from which his guilt may be fairly and logically deduced.” State v. Mitchell, 341 S.C. 406, 409, 535 S.E.2d 126, 127 (2000); see also State v. Williams, 321 S.C. 327, 332, 468 S.E.2d 626, 629 (1996). “The jury weighs the evidence but when there is an absence of evidence, it becomes the duty of the trial judge to direct a verdict....” State v. Schrock, 283 S.C. 129, 134, 322 S.E.2d 450, 452–53 (1984). Evidence must constitute positive proof of facts and circumstances which reasonably tends to prove guilt. *Id.* at 133, 322 S.E.2d at 452 (citing State v. Manis, 214 S.C. 99, 51 S.E.2d 370 (1949)). “Unless there is a total failure of competent evidence as to the charges alleged, refusal by the trial judge to direct a verdict of acquittal is not error.” State v. Irvin, 270 S.C. 539, 543, 243 S.E.2d 195, 197 (1978) (citing State v. Massey, 267 S.C. 432, 229 S.E.2d 332 (1976)). On appeal of the denial of a directed verdict of acquittal, this Court must look at the evidence in the light most favorable to the State. State v. Martin, 340 S.C. 597, 602, 533 S.E.2d 572, 574 (2000).

See also State v. Weston, 367 S.C. 279, 292-93, 625 S.E.2d 641, 648 (2006). This standard is consistent with Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307 (1979) (evidence is sufficient to send a case to the jury if any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt). See State v. Stokes, 299 S.C. 483, 484, 386 S.E.2d 241, 241 (1989).

Here, the State’s evidence, as discussed above, reasonably tended to establish that Petitioner fired the fatal shots that struck the victim in the head and killed her. Specifically, the record shows that:

- Petitioner created the dispute with Hill, Ganson and Hemphill, by robbing Hill of \$ 450.00;

door, killing unintended victim instead), overruled on other grounds, State v. Lowry, 315 S.C. 396, 434 S.E.2d 272 (1993); State v. Horne, 282 S.C. 444, 447, 319 S.E.2d 703, 704 (1984) (holding that the State in future may prosecute defendant for murder of viable fetus when defendant attacks a pregnant woman with malice and in the process kills the fetus, an unintended victim); State v. Williams, 189 S.C. 19, 24, 199 S.E. 906, 908 (1938) (affirming murder conviction where defendant shot at intended victim who was driving a wagon of cotton, but missed him and mistakenly killed the man sitting beside him).

- Petitioner had at least one, if not two run-ins with these men following the robbery and before the murder;
- Petitioner had told his girlfriend at the time, Kayla Estes, about a beef with the other men “[o]ver money,” and he had told her that “he would handle it;”
- Petitioner was aware that there may be a difficulty with these men if he encountered them at the trailer park, but he and Sanders agreed to take Coates home on the night of May 3rd;
- following a “hyped up” conversation with Sanders on the way to Coates’ residence, in which he apparently was looking forward to seeing his rivals at the trailer park, Sanders gave him the .40 caliber semi-automatic pistol (**Court’s Exhibit 4**) and he kept it in his lap;
- he saw Hemphill and Ganson as they approached Coates’ trailer, and he said, “There they go;”
- Petitioner jumped out of the car as soon as it stopped, and he began walking toward the roadway, with the weapon at his side, covered by his shirt;
- he then met Hemphill in the roadway, and the men argued;¹⁶
- Ganson testified that Petitioner had an automatic pistol “[b]y his side, he pulled it up” and pointed it at Hemphill;
- Petitioner and Hemphill continued to argue and Ganson heard Petitioner tell Hemphill, ““I ought to shoot you but I ain't want [(sic)] to do the time.”” He also asked, ““What you gone do now?””
- Petitioner walked back toward the passenger side of the Malibu after this confrontation, but when a shot was fired from the other side of the road, he turned as if to shoot, with Stevens repeatedly encouraging him to “squeeze;”
- then, a number of shots were fired, inferably by him;
- following the crime, neither Petitioner nor Stevens checked on the three year old victim, until Stevens spoke to family and friends shortly after the shooting and they inquired about her;
- all of the shots that hit the car, including the shot that took the life of the innocent three year old victim, were fired from the passenger side of the vehicle and none could have been fired from the other side of the roadway; and

¹⁶ From Ganson’s testimony, it does not appear that Hemphill was armed, yet. However, Hemphill was armed after the shooting began

- ballistics testing confirmed that the three .40 caliber cartridges collected by Coats (**State's Exhibit 11**), the bullet jacket fragment found in the passenger side floor board of the car (**State's Exhibit 75**), the copper fragment from the headrest in the backseat of the car (**State's Exhibit 80**) and the bullet jacket fragment found in the driveway across the street from Coates' trailer (**State's Exhibit 74**) were all fired by **Court's Exhibit 4**, the recovered .40 caliber weapon.

Standing alone, this evidence - based upon the two eyewitness accounts - was sufficient to submit the charge of murder to his jury, separate and apart from potential guilt under a theory of accomplice liability.

Petitioner's contention that he lawfully armed himself ignores that he could not lawfully arm himself because he was a previously convicted felon, and that he pled guilty at the close of the State's case to the offense of possession of a pistol by a person convicted of a violent crime. **R. p. 572, line 14 - p. 574, line 5**. More importantly, his unlawful possession of the weapon was the proximate cause of the homicide because he knowingly brought it to a confrontation with Hemphill, which he instigated. Thus, he was not entitled to a charge on self-defense because he was not without fault in bringing on the difficulty. Accord State v. Slater, 373 S.C. 66, 70-71, 644 S.E.2d 50, 52 (2007) ("the instant case, Slater fails to meet the first requirement for the self-defense charge: specifically, Slater was not without fault in bringing on the difficulty. ... Slater's actions, including the unlawful possession of the weapon, proximately caused the exchange of gunfire, and ultimately the death of the victim"). Instead, Petitioner went looking for trouble and, unsurprisingly, he found it. Id.

Alternatively, the trial judge properly submitted the case to the jury because there was evidence that Stevens shot the victim, albeit emanating from Petitioner's self-serving statements to Estes and law enforcement. Because this point was conceded in the lower court during the direct appeal, Respondent will not argue it in detail. However, Respondent would note that

Stevens' act in shooting the weapon that he had just reacquired from Petitioner, after Petitioner had initiated the confrontation with the other group, clearly occurred while both men were present at the scene and "intentionally, or through a common design, aid[ing], abet[ting], or assist[ing] in the commission of [the murder] through some overt act." See State v. Gibson, 390 S.C. 347, 354, 701 S.E.2d 766, 769-70 (Ct.App. 2010).

As the Court explained in Gibson,

Under the "hand of one is the hand of all" theory of accomplice liability, one who joins with another to accomplish an illegal purpose is liable criminally for everything done by his confederate incidental to the execution of the common design and purpose. A defendant may be convicted on a theory of accomplice liability pursuant to an indictment charging him only with the principal offense. [However, mere presence and prior knowledge that a crime was going to be committed, without more, is insufficient to constitute guilt. [Rather,] presence at the scene of a crime by pre-arrangement to aid, encourage, or abet in the perpetration of the crime constitutes guilt as a principal.

State v. Thompson, 374 S.C. 257, 261–62, 647 S.E.2d 702, 704–05 (Ct.App.2007) (internal quotations and citations omitted).

"Under an accomplice liability theory, 'a person must personally commit the crime or be present at the scene of the crime and intentionally, or through a common design, aid, abet, or assist in the commission of that crime through some overt act.' " See State v. Condrey, 349 S.C. 184, 194, 562 S.E.2d 320, 325 (Ct.App.2002) (quoting State v. Langley, 334 S.C. 643, 648–49, 515 S.E.2d 98, 101 (1999)). In order to establish the parties agreed to achieve an illegal purpose, thereby establishing presence by pre-arrangement, the State need not prove a formal expressed agreement, but rather can prove the same by circumstantial evidence and the conduct of the parties. *Id.* at 193, 562 S.E.2d at 324 (stating that under the hand of one is the hand of all theory, "[a] formally expressed agreement is not necessary to establish the conspiracy" which brings the accomplice to the scene of the crime).

Gibson, 390 S.C. 347, 354, 701 S.E.2d 766, 769-70. Because of the discrepancy as to who fired the shots that killed the victim, the matter was properly submitted to the jury. *Id.*; See also Barber v. State, 393 S.C. 232, 236, 712 S.E.2d 436, 438-39 (2011) ("Like a lesser-included offense, an alternate theory of liability may only be charged when the evidence is equivocal on some integral

fact and the jury has been presented with evidence upon which it could rely to find the existence or nonexistence of that fact. We find the sum of the evidence presented at trial, both by the State and defense, was equivocal as to who was the shooter. Thus, the charge on accomplice liability was warranted"). As a result, Petitioner argument fails. Trial Counsel would have been unsuccessful in challenging the sufficiency of the evidence during his motion for a directed verdict.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the petition should be denied. Should this Court grant the petition for writ of certiorari, Respondent requests permission to more fully brief the issues herein.